
  

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

WESTERN DIVISION 
 
 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and  ) 

              ) 
THE STATE OF ILLINOIS   )    

       )  
  Plaintiffs,       ) 
          ) 
  v.       ) Civil Action No.  _____________ 
         ) 
THE CITY OF ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS,  ) 

 ) 
        ) 
  Defendant.                ) 
____________________________________ )  
 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States, 

acting at the request and on behalf of the Administrator of the United States Environmental 

Protection Agency (“EPA”), and the State of Illinois (“State”), acting on behalf of the Illinois 

Environmental Protection Agency (“Illinois EPA”), allege as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

 1. This is a civil action for injunctive relief and civil penalties brought by the United 

States pursuant to Sections 309(b) and (d) of the federal Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. 

§§ 1319(b) and (d), against the City of Rockford, Illinois, (“Rockford” or “the City”) for failing 

to comply with the terms and conditions of its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(“NPDES”) permit for stormwater discharges from its municipal separate storm sewer system.   
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 2. The State joins this action as a party pursuant to Section 309(e) of the CWA, 33 

U.S.C. § 1319(e), which provides that whenever a municipality is a party to a civil action 

brought by the United States under Section 309 of the CWA, the State in which the municipality 

is located should be joined as a party.  The State is acting through the Illinois Attorney General 

on her own motion and at request of Illinois EPA as well as in the capacity of a citizen within the 

citizen suit provisions of the CWA and Illinois law related to water pollution.   

JURISDICTION, VENUE, NOTICE, AND AUTHORITY 

 3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, 1355, and 1367, and Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).  

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, the Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the claims brought in 

this action by the State of Illinois under the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 5/1, 

et seq. (2014).   

 4. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Illinois pursuant to 28 U.S.C.  

§§ 1391(b) and 1395 and Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), because Rockford is 

located in the Northern District of Illinois and the alleged violations occurred in that district. 

 5. Authority to bring this action is vested in the United States Department of Justice 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519, and Section 506 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1366.  

Authority to bring this action is vested in the Illinois Attorney General by Section 4 of the 

Illinois Attorney General Act, 15 ILCS 205/4, and by Section 42(d) and (e) of the Illinois 

Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 5/42(d) and (e) (2014).   

6. As a signatory to this Complaint, the State of Illinois has actual notice of the  

commencement of this action pursuant to Section 309(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b). 
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THE DEFENDANT 

 7. The City of Rockford is a municipal corporation duly chartered under the laws of 

the State of Illinois, and a “municipality” as defined in Section 502(4) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.  

§ 1362(4).   

 8. Rockford is a “person” within the meaning of Section 502(5) of the CWA, 33 

U.S.C. § 1362(5). 

 9. Rockford owns and operates a municipal separate storm sewer system (“MS4”) 

which according to the 1990, the 2000 and the 2010 census, serves a residential population of 

over 150,000.  Rockford’s MS4 has residential, commercial and industrial users.  

 10. Rockford conducts construction to build, repair and replace public roads, bridges, 

dams, levees and other public infrastructure.   

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

The Clean Water Act and the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

 11. The purpose of the CWA is to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical and 

biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  The CWA establishes a 

national goal of eliminating the discharge of pollutants into navigable waters.  33 U.S.C. 

§ 1251(a)(1).    

 12. Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of 

pollutants to navigable waters of the United States by any person, except in compliance with 

other sections of the CWA, including Section 402, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, which governs the issuance 

of NPDES permits. 
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 13. The CWA defines the term “discharge of pollutants” to include “any addition of 

any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(12). 

 14. “Pollutant” within the meaning of the CWA includes, “solid waste . . . sewage, 

garbage, sewage sludge . . . biological materials . . . rock, sand . . . and . . . industrial, municipal, 

and agricultural waste discharged into water.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(6). 

 15. Navigable waters are defined to mean the “waters of the United States.”  33 

U.S.C. § 1362(7). 

 16. The CWA defines the term “point source” to mean “any discernible, confined and 

discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit . . . 

from which pollutants are or may be discharged.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(14). 

 17. Section 402(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a), provides that the permit-issuing 

authority may issue an NPDES permit which authorizes the discharge of any pollutant, but only 

in compliance with the applicable requirements of Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, 

and such other conditions as the Administrator determines are necessary to carry out the 

provisions of the CWA. 

 18. Section 402(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b), provides that the EPA 

Administrator may approve a state to administer the NPDES program within its jurisdiction.  The 

State of Illinois has been authorized to administer the NPDES program in Illinois since October 

23, 1977.   

 19. The Administrator of the EPA may commence a civil action for appropriate relief 

when any person discharges pollutants to navigable waters without a permit or violates the terms 

or conditions of an NPDES permit.  33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).  
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 20. A person who violates the CWA by discharging without a permit, or failing to 

comply with conditions and limitations of an NPDES permit, shall be subject to a civil penalty 

not to exceed $32,500 per day for each violation occurring between March 16, 2004 and January 

12, 2009, and $37,500 per day for each violation occurring after January 12, 2009.  See 33 

U.S.C. § 1319(d) and 73 Fed. Reg. 75340, December 11, 2008.   

21. Section 12(f) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f) 

(2014), prohibits the discharge of any contaminant into the waters of the State without an 

NPDES permit for point source discharges issued by Illinois EPA, or in violation of any term or 

condition imposed by such permit.  

22. Sections 42(b), (d), and (e) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 

ILCS 5/42(b), (d) and (e) (2014), authorize the commencement and pursuit of judicial 

enforcement actions by the State of Illinois for injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to 

$10,000 per day for violation of any NPDES permit issued by the Illinois EPA, or term or 

condition thereof, or any filing requirement, regulation, or order relating to the NPDES permit 

program. 

Municipal Stormwater Regulation under the NPDES Program 

 23. “Municipal separate storm sewer” or “MS4” means, inter alia, “a conveyance or 

system of conveyances (including roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, 

curbs, gutters, ditches, man-made channels, or storm drains) . . . [o]wned or operated by a . . . 

city . . . county . . . or other public body (created by or pursuant to State law) . . . [and] [d]esigned 

or used for collecting or conveying storm water . . . .which is not a combined sewer; and which is 
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not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) as defined at 40 C.F.R. 122.2.” 40 

C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(8).  Rockford’s MS4 is not a combined sewer, nor is it part of a POTW. 

 24. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(7) defines a “medium” MS4  as “all municipal 

separate storm sewers . . . [l]ocated in an incorporated place with a population of 100,000 or 

more, but less than 250,000 as determined by the 1990 Decennial Census by the Bureau of 

Census …” 

 25. Section 402(p)(3)(B) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p)(3)(B), requires that MS4 

permits shall require controls to reduce the discharge of pollutants to the maximum extent 

practicable, including management practices, control techniques and system, design and 

engineering methods, and such other provisions as the Administrator or the State determines 

appropriate for the control of such pollutants.    

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

 26. Rockford owns and operates a MS4 within the meaning of Section 402(p) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(p), and 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(18).  

 27. The Illinois EPA issued to Rockford an MS4 permit (NPDES permit no. 

ILS000001)  effective May 1, 1996, and renewed it effective December 1, 2004 (the “2004 

Permit”).  The 2004 Permit authorizes discharges to, among others, Rock River and the 

Kishwaukee River in compliance with its terms and conditions.    

CLAIM FOR RELIEF  
 

 28. The allegations of the foregoing Paragraphs are realleged and incorporated herein 

by reference. 

 29. Part II(A) of the 2004 Permit requires Rockford to: 
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– operate and maintain any stormwater structural controls that Rockford owns or operates 

in a manner so as to reduce the discharge of pollutants (Section II(A)(2));  

– conduct site visits on structural controls (such as detention or retention basins), to 

gather data on these visits, and to compile the data into a database (Section II(A)(2)(a)); 

– monitor basins in the system, including association controlled basins, on a periodic 

basis to determine if present maintenance efforts need to be improved (Section II(A)(2)(b)); 

– develop a cleaning and maintenance schedule for the retention basins maintained by 

Rockford based upon a pilot study of a small sampling of the basins (Section II(A)(2)(b)); 

 – evaluate the feasibility of retrofitting existing drainage facilities including swales, 

channels, dry ponds, wet ponds, wetlands and others to reduce discharge of pollutants (Section 

II(A)(2)(c));  

– implement a program to reduce the discharge of pollutants from construction sites by, 

among other things, requiring developers to submit erosion control plans for review and approval 

by Rockford that must be sufficiently detailed over the life of the development so that erosion 

and sedimentation are minimized, and to allow inspectors to be aware of the types of control 

measures that should be in places at various times during development (Sections II(A)(3)(a)(ii) 

and II(A)(3)(a)(iv));  

– incorporate an inspection program concerning erosion and sedimentation control into 

the existing planning and inspection programs operated within the city engineering department 

(Section II(A)(3)(a)(iii));    
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– develop a field guide for inspection of construction site “best management practices” 

(or “BMPs”) and establish minimum requirements for regular inspections of active and inactive 

construction sites (Section II(A)(3)(a)(vi));   

– include in its construction site runoff program appropriate education and training 

measures for developers, development engineers and construction site operators (Section 

II(A)(3)(a)(vii);  

– include in its construction site runoff program notice to appropriate building permit 

applicants of their potential responsibilities under the NPDES permitting program for 

construction site runoff (Section II(A)(3)(a)(viii));   

– require the use of multi-stage detention control following construction within the City, 

to protect channel stability and to control flooding (Section II(A)(3)(b)(iii)); 

– conduct a pilot study regarding the use of alternate side parking regulations (Section 

II(A)(4)(d);  

– incorporate water quality standards into Rockford’s Engineering Design Criteria 

Manual, subdivision ordinance, and flood hazard reduction ordinance (Section II(A)(5)(a));  

– study the feasibility of retrofitting Rockford’s existing flood control devices to provide 

additional pollutant removal from stormwater (Section II(A)(5)(b));  

– initiate meetings with surrounding communities concerning the need for regional 

detention facilities (Section II(A)(5)(c));  

 – implement controls to reduce the pollutants in discharges from the MS4 associated with 

the application of pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers (Section II(A)(6)) and to evaluate current 

pesticide, herbicide, and fertilizer application practices within the City and Parks Department for 
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possible improvements and implement any revised practices identified by the evaluation (Section 

II(A)(6)(a));   

– implement a public education program to inform citizens of stormwater pollution 

impacts resulting from the use of chemicals, and specifies specific goals on which the program 

shall focus (Section II(A)(6)(b));   

– investigate its authority to implement controls to reduce discharge of pollutants related 

to application and distribution of pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers by commercial and 

wholesale distributors and applicators and recommend possible changes to City ordinances for 

this purpose (Section II(A)(6)(c));  

– adopt an ordinance to prohibit non-stormwater discharges to the MS4, other than those 

authorized under a separate NPDES permit (Section II(A)(7)(b));  

 – implement a program to identify, monitor, and control pollutants in stormwater 

discharges from certain industrial and high risk facilities and to identify industries and high risk 

properties that discharge to the MS4 (Sections II(A)(9) and II(A)(9)(a));  

– review and evaluate industry pollution prevention plans and other plans that the 

industry must develop under NPDES permit No. ILS000001 and other permits and regulations 

(Section II(A)(9)(b)); 

– inspect and monitor a random select group of industries to verify that industries 

discharging stormwater to the City’s MS4 are in compliance with their NPDES stormwater 

permits (Permit section II(A)(9)(c);  

– implement a stormwater monitoring (or self-monitoring) program of individual 

industries (Sections II(A)(9)(h)-(l));  
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– implement and continue to update a public education program (Section II(A)(10));  

 – monitor representative outfalls, internal sampling locations, and/or in-stream 

monitoring locations to characterize the quality of stormwater discharges from its MS4 (Section 

V(A)(1)); and 

 –provide adequate finances, staff, equipment, and support capabilities to implement its 

stormwater program (Section II(E)). 

 30. The City failed and/or is failing to comply with the requirements listed above.  
 
 31. Each of the City’s failures to comply with the requirements above violated the 

2004 Permit, the CWA, and Section 12(f) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 

5/12(f) (2014).  

 32. The City is liable to the United States under Section 309 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 

1319, for injunctive relief and civil penalties of up to $32,500 per day for each violation 

occurring on or after March 15, 2004, and $37,500 per day for each violation of the CWA 

occurring on or after January 12, 2009.  The City is liable to the State under Section 42(e) of the 

Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 5/42(e) (2014), for injunctive relief and under  

Sections 42(b) and (d) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 ILCS 5/42(b) and (d) 

(2014), for civil penalties of up to $10,000 per day for each violation.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

 A. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d) and 415 ILCS 5/42, assess civil penalties against 

Rockford, as permitted by law, up to the date of judgment herein;  
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B. Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b) and 415 ILCS 5/42, enjoin Rockford from any 

and all ongoing and future violations of the CW A by ordering compliance with the Act; 

C. Order Rockford to take all steps necessary to come into permanent and consistent 

compliance with the prohibition on unpermitted discharges contained in Section 301(a) of the 

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 131 l(a), Section 12(f) of the Illinois Environmental Protection Act, 415 

ILCS 5/12(f) (2014), and all terms and conditions of its NPDES permits; 

D. Order Rockford to take all steps necessary to redress or mitigate the effects of its 

violations; 

E. A ward the Plaintiffs the costs of this action; and 

F. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted, 

sistant Attorney General 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 

Anna E. Cross 
Trial Attorney 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
United States Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 7611 
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 
(202) 514-1671 
anna.cross@usdoj.gov 
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ZACHARY T. FARDON 
United States Attorney 
Northern District of Illinois 

Monica V. Mallory 
Assistant United States Attorney 
327 South Church Street, Suite 3300 
Rockford, Illinois 6110 I 
(815) 987-4444 
monica.mallory@usdoj.gov 

OF COUNSEL FOR THE UNITED STA TES: 
Erik H. Olson 
Associate Regional Counsel 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 5 
77 West Jackson Boulevard 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 

12 



Case: 3:15-cv-50250 Document #: 1 Filed: 10/08/15 Page 13 of 14 PageID #:13

FOR THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF 
ILLINOIS: 
ex rel. LISA MADIGAN, Attorney General 
of the State of Illinois 

MATHEW J. DUNN, Chief 
Environmental Enforcement/ 
Asbestos Litigation Division 

BY: ~oM U)~ 
ELIZABET WALLA CE, Chief 
Assistant Attorney General 
Environmental Bureau 
69 West Washington Street, Suite 1800 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
(312) 814-5396 
ewallace@atg.state.il.us 

13 



Case: 3:15-cv-50250 Document #: 1 Filed: 10/08/15 Page 14 of 14 PageID #:14

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this date a copy of the above Complaint has been served on the following 

counsel of record via electronic mail and via Federal Express: 

Richard S. Davis 
Beveridge & Diamond PC 
1350 I Street, N.W., Suite 700 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
rdavis@bdlaw.com 

Date: October 8, 2015 
Anna E. Cross 
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